
City of Nehalem • 35900 8th Street • P.O. Box 143 • Nehalem, Oregon  97131 

Ph (503) 368-5627• Fx (503) 368-4175• nehalem.gov 

 
 

NEHALEM CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2023 - 6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
ROLL CALL 
GUESTS 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   October 9, 2023, Regular Council Meeting; April 27, 2023, Special 

Council Meeting;  
 

POLICE REPORT 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  

1. Oregon Recreational Immunity 
 
 
CORRESPONDENCE/OTHER BUSINESS 
 
STAFF REPORTS 
PAYMENT OF BILLS/FINANCIALS 
COUNCIL COMMENTS 
PUBLIC COMMENTS  
 
ADJOURNMENT - Next Regular Council Meeting: December 11, 2023 
 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. If you need accommodations to access 
this meeting, please contact City Hall at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

This meeting will be held in-person at City Hall and through Zoom video conference.  
 
Please use the following phone number or Zoom weblink to access the meeting remotely: 
Join by phone: Call (253) 215-8782 and enter Meeting ID: 867 1634 1939 
Join online:   https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86716341939 

   
 
 
 
 

 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES OCTOBER 9, 2023 

PAGE 1 

 

NEHALEM CITY COUNCIL 

COUNCIL MINUTES 

REGULAR MEETING 

October 9, 2023 

 

 

 

REGULAR SESSION 

 

Mayor Chick called the Regular Council Meeting to order at 6:03 p.m. and led those present in 

the Pledge of Allegiance. The meeting was held in-person and by Zoom video conference.  

 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Phil Chick, Mayor  

      Hilary Howell, Council President  

      Dave Cram, Council Member 

      Doug Larzelier, Council Member 

      John Coopersmith, Council Member 

 

 

 

STAFF PRESENT:     Lori Longfellow, City Manager 

Yuriy Ukhach, Deputy City Recorder 

      Brian Moore, Public Works Director 

Walt Wendolowski, Contracted City Planner (on Zoom) 

      Carrie Richter, Contracted City Attorney (on Zoom) 

 

 

 

VISITORS:     Vern Scovel 

    Janelle Mechler 

    Michael Howes  

      Mrs. O’Connor 

    On Zoom: 

    Denise Drake 

    Suzan Samek 

    Steven Ziemecki 

    Lucy Brook 

    Unidentified visitors 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

The Council reviewed the minutes of the September 11, 2023, Regular Council Meeting. Council 

President Howell noted a few corrections to the minutes. Council President Howell MOVED to 

approve the minutes of the September 11, 2023; Regular Council Meeting as corrected. 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES OCTOBER 9, 2023 

PAGE 2 

 

Councilor Cram SECONDED the motion. MOTION PASSED 4-0 (Yes: Howell, Cram, 

Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

 

POLICE REPORT 

 

The Council reviewed the Police Report for September 2023. 

 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

 

THE SECOND READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2023-05: AN ORDINANCE 

REPEALING NEHALEM CITY CODE CHAPTERS 156 (SUBDIVISIONS) AND 

CHAPTER 157 (ZONING) AND REPLACING THEM WITH A NEW DEVELOPMENT 

ORDINANCE CODIFIED IN NEHALEM CITY CODE CHAPTER 157 

 

Mayor Chick stated that on September 11th, the City Council held a meeting to consider repeal 

and replacement of the new Development Ordinance.  He noted that after considering all public 

testimony, both written and oral, the City Council closed the record of the proceedings, 

deliberated, and voted to adopt Ordinance No. 2023-05 by a vote of 2 in favor and 1 opposed.  

Mayor Chick added that this vote was preceded by a motion to approve both the first and second 

reading on the same night which similarly passed by a motion of 2-1; however, the City Charter 

provides that the Council may adopt an ordinance at a single meeting only upon a unanimous 

vote.  He explained that since the vote was not unanimous, the Council needs to proceed with the 

second reading of the ordinance before the ordinance is effective.  Mayor Chick stated that the 

public record for this matter was closed on September 11th and that between the Planning 

Commission and the City Council there were three meetings where the public had an opportunity 

to testify. He noted that the testimony was taken and used by the Council and the Planning 

Commission to add a few things that were brought by the public. Mayor Chick stated that the 

revisions to the code identified at the last hearing as (1) increasing the maximum building height 

in residential zones to 30 feet and (2) allowing short term rental uses within accessory dwelling 

units, have been implemented. He concluded that this ordinance is not adopted by emergency 

and under the Charter, non-emergency ordinances will take effect in 30 days after adoption; if 

adopted tonight, this ordinance will take effect on November 8, 2023. Mayor Chick stated that 

the only thing left to do tonight is to proceed with the 2nd reading and a vote on adoption. 

 

Councilor Coopersmith talked about the reasons for his vote at a previous meeting. He stated that 

the new ordinance has several beneficial changes that would be helpful to the community. 

 

Councilor Cram stated that he has no financial benefit from the approval of this ordinance.   

 

Council President Howell MOVED to perform the second reading of Ordinance 2023-05 by title 

only. Councilor Cram SECONDED the motion. MOTION PASSED 4-0 (Yes: Howell, Cram, 

Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). Deputy City Recorder Yuriy Ukhach performed the 

second reading of Ordinance 2023-05 by title only.  

 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES OCTOBER 9, 2023 

PAGE 3 

 

Councilor Cram MOVED to adopt Ordinance 2023-05: An Ordinance Repealing Nehalem City 

Code Chapters 156 (Subdivisions) And Chapter 157 (Zoning) And Replacing Them With A New 

Development Ordinance Codified In Nehalem City Code Chapter 157 with the following 

amendments for 157.204.05(g), 157.205.5(e), and 157.206.05(g) to change the maximum 

building height to 30 feet in the residential zones and the amendment to 157.420.01(h) replacing 

the current language with the following: Short-Term Rentals may be located within the 

Accessory Dwelling Units provided they are in compliance with the provisions of Ordinance 

2023-02 Regulating Short-Term Rentals. Councilor Larzelier SECONDED the motion. 

MOTION PASSED 4-0 (Yes: Howell, Cram, Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None).  

 

 

NEHALEM RIVERSIDE CLEANUP EVENT OVERVIEW 

 

Mayor Chick provided a brief review of the event. He stated that it was a big success and 

thanked all the volunteers who participated in it.  

 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

2022-2023 AUDIT REPORT AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT THE CORRECTIVE 

PLAN OF ACTION  

 

City Manager Longfellow noted that the audit looks good and there were no findings except for 

the same deficiency as in previous years, that is due to the small size of the city staff. She 

recommended approving the Audit and adopting the Corrective Plan of Action. Longfellow 

added that she will adjust the financial reports so they will be showing what was spent monthly 

and the percentage of the available budget for each fund.  

 

Mrs. O’Connor pointed out that the Audit report referenced the City of Donald. City Manager 

Longfellow will request the audit firm to correct the error.  

 

Councilor Larzelier MOVED to approve 2022-2023 Audit Report and to adopt the Corrective 

Plan of Action. Council President Howell SECONDED the motion. MOTION PASSED 4-0 

(Yes: Howell, Cram, Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

 

THE CITY HALL WORK HOURS 

 

City Manager Longfellow noted that she would like to have City Hall more open to the public. 

She suggested to be open from 9 a.m. to 4 p.m. Monday through Thursday and from 9 a.m. to 12 

p.m. on Fridays, which would give staff opportunities to use the compensatory time and to cut 

back on the overtime accrual.  

 

The Council had a consensus on moving forward with the recommendation.  

 

 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES OCTOBER 9, 2023 

PAGE 4 

 

CEMETERY HEADSTONE FEE WAIVER CONSIDERATION 

 

City Manager Longfellow explained that she received a recommendation from Waud’s funeral 

home to consider waiving the headstone fee, which is currently a $50.00 fee, for veterans who 

received military issued veteran headstones.  

 

There was a brief discussion on the possible impact on the cemetery budget.  

 

Councilor Coopersmith MOVED to approve Cemetery Veteran Headstone Fee Waiver. 

Councilor Cram SECONDED the motion. MOTION PASSED 4-0 (Yes: Howell, Cram, 

Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

CORRESPONDENCE/OTHER BUSINESS 

 

None  

 

STAFF REPORTS 

 

CITY MANAGER REPORT - VERBAL 

 

City Manager Longfellow reported that a lot of her time was dedicated to onboarding; there were 

many welcoming comments from the public; and the Public Works Director Moore provided 

Longfellow with a tour of the city’s facilities. She gave a brief overview of the city’s projects 

and talked about the upcoming meetings for the City Managers in the area.  

 

 

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR REPORT 

 

Public Works Director Moore summarized the written staff report for September 2023. He added 

that the rain forecast looks promising and, if so, the water use restrictions may be lifted. Moore 

thanked the community for their efforts in conserving water.  

 

PAYMENT OF BILLS 

 

The Council reviewed the bills. Council President Howell MOVED to approve payment of the 

bills. Councilor Larzelier SECONDED the motion. MOTION PASSED 4-0 (Yes: Howell, 

Cram, Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

Mayor Chick welcomed City Manager Lori Longfellow and expressed appreciation for her great 

work in taking on her new position. 

 

 

 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES OCTOBER 9, 2023 

PAGE 5 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

Vern Scovel talked about his objections to how the new Development Ordinance would impact 

his property. He talked about his water rights, and he expressed his objections to taking away his 

water rights. He put his concerns in writing and submitted a letter that was part of the record of 

the meeting.  

Michael Howes, a board member of NCRD, noted that their 5-year tax levy was coming up on 

the November 2023 special elections and he asked for the Council’s and public support in 

passing that levy.  

Lucy Brook thanked the Council and staff for their good work. She noted the incredible expertise 

of the new City Manager Lori Longfellow and expressed appreciation for her service to the 

community.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

The next regular Council meeting will be November 13th, 2023. 

 

There being no further business, Mayor Chick adjourned the meeting at 6:51 p.m. 

 

 

    APPROVED:       

      Phil Chick, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:       

      Yuriy Ukhach, Deputy City Recorder 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES APRIL 27, 2023 

PAGE 1 

 

NEHALEM CITY COUNCIL 

COUNCIL MINUTES 

SPECIAL MEETING 

April 27, 2023 

 

 

 

SPECIAL MEETING 

 

Mayor Chick called the Council Special Meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. The meeting was held in-

person and by Zoom video conference.  

 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Phil Chick, Mayor  

      Hilary Howell, Council President  

      Doug Larzelier, Council Member 

      John Coopersmith, Council Member 

 

 

EXCUSED:      Dave Cram, Council Member 

 

 

 

STAFF PRESENT:     Melissa Thompson-Kiefer, City Manager 

      Yuriy Ukhach, Deputy City Recorder 

      Brian Moore, Public Works Director 

 

 

 

VISITORS:     Mrs. O’Connor 

     Susan Samek 

     Unidentified visitor 

 

 

 

Mayor Chick led those present in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

CONSIDERATION TO ACCEPT CITY MANAGER’S RESIGNATION  

 

Mayor Chick thanked the City Manager Thompson-Kiefer for her 10 years of service to the city.  

 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES APRIL 27, 2023 

PAGE 2 

 

Councilor Larzelier MOVED to accept the City Manager’s resignation effective May 31st, 2023. 

Council President Howell SECONDED the motion. MOTION PASSED 3-0 (Yes: Howell, 

Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

 

DISCUSSION REGARDING CITY MANAGER POSITION TRANSITION PLAN AND 

RECRUITMENT PROCESS 

 

• Recruitment for Interim Manager vs. Recruitment for Permanent City Manager 

 

City Manager Thompson-Kiefer stated that due to the time investment that would be involved in 

both recruiting and training an Interim City Manager in the day-to-day responsibilities of the 

position, it would be in the City’s best interest to do an immediate recruitment for a permanent 

City Manager. 

 

The Council had consensus on recruitment of a permanent City Manager.  

 

• In-House vs. Recruitment Firm 

 

The City Manager Thompson-Kiefer noted that the recruitment of a permanent City Manager can 

be done either in-house, or by a recruitment firm. She noted that the recruitment firm process 

typically takes 4 months, and the cost typically ranges $15,000-$28,000.  Thompson-Kiefer 

expressed confidence that the city could conduct its own recruitment. She added that she learned 

that the Local Government Personnel Services (LGPS) of the Lane Council of Governments 

offers recruitment services for a price range of $8,500-$11,500. Thompson-Kiefer stated that she 

prepared a job description for the City Manager’s position.  

 

Councilor Coopersmith spoke in favor of the in-house recruitment.  

 

The City Manager Thompson-Kiefer added that with the assistance of the HR consultant of the 

city’s CIS insurance agency, she prepared an updated draft job description for the City 

Manager’s position. She noted that a helpful resource for the in-house recruitment is a Guide for 

recruiting a City Administrator that is provided by the League of Oregon Cities (LOC) 

 

The Council had a consensus on conducting an in-house recruitment.  

 

Councilor Coopersmith suggested holding a work session to work out a plan for the City 

Manager recruitment. The Council had a consensus to hold a work session on Wednesday, May 

3rd, 2023, at 6 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES APRIL 27, 2023 

PAGE 3 

 

• Proposed In-House Recruitment Timeline 

 

City Manager Thompson-Kiefer reviewed the draft of a timeline that was part of the agenda 

packet as follows:  

• On May 8th – to hold a Hearing and the Council Adoption of Hiring Process.  

• To start advertising for the position on May 9th - June 6th, which typically is a 4-week 

period. 

• On June 5th - June 8th to begin screening the applications to determine if the candidate 

meets the minimum qualifications.  

• On June 8th – to hold an Executive Session to review the candidates.  

• On June 20th – June 23rd to conduct interviews and, 

• On June 27th to offer employment to the best candidate. 

 

• Discussion Regarding Interview Panel 

 

Mayor Chick suggested to include the Manzanita City Manager, Public Works Director Brian 

Moore, and a member of the Nehalem Planning Commission on the Interview Panel.  

 

There was some discussion about interview questions.  

 

• Discussion Regarding Appointing and Contracting with Current City Manager as City  

Manager Pro-Tem after May 31st for Critical Processes, including Budget Adoption 

 

The City Manager Thompson-Kiefer noted that the Budget Committee meeting is scheduled for 

May 23rd, 2023, and the Budget will be presented for adoption on June 12th, 2023, at the City 

Council meeting. She noted that she arranged with her future employer to attend these and all 

other City Council and Planning Commission meetings for both June and July 2023.  

Thompson-Kiefer added that she would continue caring for critical processes, cross-training staff 

and assisting with the facilitation of the recruitment process. She proposed that the city contract 

her as a City Manager Pro Tem on an hourly basis that would allow her to fulfill all critical tasks 

on her own time, in the evenings and on the weekends.   

 

The Council had a consensus to proceed with this Agreement and to have it presented at the next 

regular Council meeting.  

 

There was some more discussion about the interview questions.  

 

City Manager Thompson-Kiefer talked about the city’s US Bank credit card management and 

about the need to update it to a new community card program. She requested the Council’s 

authorization to issue credit cards to the City Deputy Recorder Yuriy Ukhach and to the Public 

Works Director Brian Moore and to add Mayor Chick as an authorized representative on the 

account. The City Manager added that currently there are two Council members approved as 

check signers and the City Manager Thompson-Kiefer is the only administrative signer of the 

checks. She recommended adding the Deputy City Recorder as an authorized check signer and as 

an authorized city contact for the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) account.  

 



 

CITY OF NEHALEM COUNCIL MINUTES APRIL 27, 2023 

PAGE 4 

 

There was some discussion about the credit card limits and the employee’s spending limits.  

 

Councilor Coopersmith MOVED to direct the City Manager to apply for a new US Bank 

community credit card program and to add Deputy City Recorder Yuriy Ukhach and Public 

Works Director Brian Moore as credit card holders. Council President Howell SECONDED the 

motion. MOTION PASSED 3-0 (Yes: Howell, Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

Council President Howell MOVED to add Deputy City Recorder, Yuriy Ukhach as an 

authorized check signer for the US Bank account. Councilor Coopersmith SECONDED the 

motion. MOTION PASSED 3-0 (Yes: Howell, Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

Councilor Larzelier MOVED to add Deputy City Recorder, Yuriy Ukhach as an authorized 

LGIP account contact. Council President Howell SECONDED the motion. MOTION PASSED 

3-0 (Yes: Howell, Larzelier and Coopersmith; No: None). 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

The next regular Council meeting will be May 8, 2023. 

 

There being no further business, Mayor Chick adjourned the meeting at 7:05 p.m. 

 

 

    APPROVED:       

      Phil Chick, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:       

      Yuriy Ukhach, Deputy City Recorder 



Mon Year Mon Year Mon Year Mon Year Mon Year Mon Year
PERSON CRIMES PERSON OTHER
Homicide Death Natural 3 2 1 1
Kidnap Suicide/Attempt 2 3 1 2
Sexual Assault Missing /  Lost 2 3
Assault Simple 1 1 1 Runaway 1
Assault Serious 2 1 Drowning
Assault/Police Officer 1 ARREST
Domestic Disturbance 1 3 Criminal 5 7 1 1
Disorderly Conduct 1 4 Warrant 1 2 1 3 1
Resisting Arrest 1 1 Detox
Menacing 4 POH
Harassment 2 7 8 1 OTHER
Escape 1 Loss/Found Property 8 51 51 1
Reckless Endangering 4 Residential Checks 13 43 93 1 2 3
Weapon Medical Assist 4 29 24 3 11 11 4 8

Fire Dept. Assist 1 14 6 1 3 7 1 1
PROPERTY CRIMES Alarms 1 26 34 2 5 1 1 3
Burglary Residence 2 1 1 Unfounded 1 13 15 2 3 1
Burglary Business 1 3 Open Window/Door 2 14 8 2 1 1 3
Attempted Burglary 3 2 Public Assist 20 169 182 2 22 41 7 21
Prowler 1 1 Other 4 23 11 4 1
Arson
Reckless Burning
Criminal Mischief 8 4
Theft 25 15 3 1
Unauth Use Veh 1 2 No Camp Permit Disp
Unlawful Entry Veh Camping Proh. Area 1
Robbery No Day Use Permit 24 99 109
Trespass 1 9 10 1 1 Viol. Posted Parking 3 9 6 10 14
Littering 2 1 Handicap Parking 1
Fraud 1 Traffic Violation 5 45 82 1 10 11
NSF Check General Reg Viol. 7 7 1
Forgery 2 2 Search & Rescue 1 2 3 2
OTHER OFF/CRIMES Ranger Assist 7 27 27 1 5 1
City Ordinance 9 134 108 Vandalism
Animal Complaint 27 35 3 2 Litter 1 1
Fish and Game 3 1 Minor in Possession
Civil 15 12 1 5 Furnishing Alcohol
Drug/Liquor 3 Security Checks 62 508 563 46 359 418
Misuse/ Incom  911 2 28 34 1 1 Crimes 1 1 1
Fireworks 1 10 6 Other 22 79 59 2 11 20
Susp. Circumstances 4 32 34 1 5 10 2 5 Arrest 1
Disturbance 2 4 2 1

TRAFFIC INCIDENTS
Accidents 2 7 7 1 2 2 Law Assist 10 4 1 7 10 16 145 178
Warnings 10 118 87 17 109 90 8 96 113
Citations 6 42 22 6 39 33 6 60 74
Crimes 5 5 1 1 1
Parking Warnings 7 75 56 5 4 1 3
Parking Citations 6 48 41 2 30 30 4 5
Abandoned Vehicles 2 3
Vehicle(s) Towed 1

MANZANITA POLICE DEPARTMENT
October 2023 REPORT

Manz Whe Manz Whe

OREGON STATE PARKS REPORT

Nehalem Bay Oswald West

________________________           11/01/2023
Erik Harth, Police Chief                       Date

Wheeler County

Neh Neh

Nehalem

22
to

date

22
to

date

22
to

date

22
to

date

22
to

date

22
to

date

22
to

date

22
to

date



Continued on next page

TIMELY NEWS AND TIPS TO HELP REDUCE RISK
November 2023

On July 6, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion effectively ending 
recreational immunity for improved trails. Public and private landowners of 
improved trails are no longer protected from lawsuits. (Fields v. City of Newport).

Nicole Fields Falls While Walking With a Friend and their Dogs
In Fields v. Newport a woman was walking with her friend and their dogs on the 
beach.  She walked away from the beach on an improved trail which was owned 
and maintained by the city of Newport. The woman came to a wooden footbridge 
that was wet.  She slipped and fell, then filed a lawsuit against the City. 

Ms. Fields’ suit alleged the City was negligent in maintaining the bridge and not 
putting up warning signs. Newport responded that it was immune from suit 
because Fields was using the Ocean to Bay Trail for a recreational purpose, walking 
with a friend and their dogs while they talked and socialized.

Oregon’s recreational 

immunity provided liability 

protection to landowners 

who open their property 

for recreational activities, 

shielding them from certain 

lawsuits and claims related 

to injuries or accidents that 

occur on their land.

Real-Time Risk

OREGON’S HIGHER COURTS END RECREATIONAL 
IMMUNITY FOR IMPROVED TRAILS
By Kirk Mylander, CIS General Counsel

https://cdm17027.contentdm.oclc.org/digital/search/collection/p17027coll3!p17027coll5!p17027coll6/searchterm/A177242/field/all/mode/all/conn/all/order/date/ad/desc


Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

The Trial Court Applied Recreational Immunity, 
Protecting Newport
The trial court agreed with the City, ruling that recreational immunity 
protects landowners from a lawsuit when they open their property to the 
public for recreational purposes without a fee. Because of recreational 
immunity the trial court granted summary judgment, which ended the 
case early in favor of Newport . 

The trial court determined “there are no genuine issues of material fact 
in dispute” and that under state law, the plaintiff was “using the trail for 
recreational purposes” by “walking her dog on a trail to the beach with a 
friend,” and thus the City was entitled to recreational immunity from any 
liability. 

Plaintiff Fields appealed the trial court’s ruling, arguing that the trial court 
could not conclude that her “principal purpose” (as required under state 
law) in walking on the trail was recreational as long as she claimed that the 
subjective intent in her mind was something else.

The Oregon Court of Appeals Strikes Down Recreational 
Immunity
The Oregon Court of Appeals decided that there is a factual dispute 
between Plaintiff Fields and the City as to whether her use of the trail was 
recreational, or whether her primary purpose was instead for “accessing 
the beach.”  In other words, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court 
needed to hold a jury trial to determine whether the plaintiff’s principal 
purpose on the trail was accessing the beach, or to recreate while using 
the trial with a friend and their dogs while they “socialized.”  

Either way, recreational immunity no longer stops a case at the beginning 
(an “immunity” from suit), because any plaintiff can claim their “principal 
purpose” was not to recreate.

Continued on next page



Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

Local Governments Requested that the Oregon Supreme 
Court Restore Recreational Immunity — But the Court 
Refused to Hear the Case
The City of Newport asked the Oregon Supreme Court to overrule the 
Court of Appeals and restore recreational immunity. Other members of the 
local government community in Oregon also asked the Oregon Supreme 
Court to review the Fields case and reverse the Court of Appeals. The 
City of Medford, the League of Oregon Cities, the Association of Oregon 
Counties, the Special Districts Association of Oregon, and the Oregon 
Recreation and Park Association all joined Newport in asking the Oregon 
Supreme Court to reverse the Court of Appeals:

“A decision from the Oregon Supreme Court is necessary here. The Court of 
Appeals created an exception that swallows the rule by finding a question of 
fact exists on whether socializing with a friend, walking dogs, and enjoying 
a scenic trail to access the beach is recreational or not.”

The City asked the Supreme Court to reverse the Court of Appeals 
because of the damage the Court of Appeals opinion will have on the 
public’s access to recreational land. If the Court of Appeals opinion were 
to stand, the City argued, then “Landowners must decide if making their 
land available for recreational purposes is worth the risk of effectively 
losing access to the immunity by having to litigate through trial whatever 
subjective beliefs an injured plaintiff asserts their principal purpose was.”

Unfortunately, that is where things stand today. On Oct. 5, 2023, the 
Oregon Supreme Court officially declined to review the Court of Appeals’ 
decision in Fields. This action, called “review denied” functions as a de 
facto endorsement by the Oregon Supreme Court of the Oregon Court of 
Appeals’ decision striking down recreational immunity.

At the heart of the dispute is whether a trial court can decide at the 
beginning of a case whether or not a plaintiff’s “primary purpose” when 
entering land was recreational or not recreational. 

Subjective Intent is Too Subjective for Recreational 
Immunity to Function as the Legislature Intended
The Court of Appeals did not base its decision on what Fields was actually 
doing on the City of Newport’s trail. Instead, the Court of Appeals turned 
to a dictionary for assistance with the word “walking.” 

The Court of Appeals found that walking with a dog could sometimes be a 
recreational activity, but was not necessarily always a recreational activity.  
The Court of Appeals said that even when walking and socializing, Fields’ 
“principal purpose” could have been “to go to and from the beach” which 
the Court did not consider to be recreational.

Continued on next page

The Oregon Supreme Court Building, 
Gary Halvorson/Oregon State Archives



Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

If, the Court reasoned, Fields was thinking that her “principal purpose” was 
to “access” the beach where she would begin to “recreate” with her dog 
and her friend, then recreational immunity does not protect the City (or 
any landowner). The key, according to the Oregon Court of Appeals, is the 
plaintiff’s subjective intent not her objective activities at the time. 

Unless the Legislature steps in, from now on when a person using the city’s 
path claims that their subjective intent was not primarily to recreate, then 
recreational immunity does not apply at the beginning of a suit. Instead, 
the municipality (or private landowner) will have to defend the lawsuit all 
the way through a jury trial, so the jury can decide what the plaintiff was 
thinking about their “primary intent.”

Legally, this transforms recreational “immunity” from a legal rule that stops 
a lawsuit at the outset, and turns it into a defense that a city, county, 
school district, or private landowner can only try to use at trial. Recreational 
immunity is no longer a true immunity.

Is Anything Left of Recreational Immunity?
The protection from lawsuits that landowners relied on in deciding to 
open their land to the public is now likely gone for all trails. It may be gone 
for any property that someone can claim they “were just passing through”.

The Oregon Court of Appeals and Oregon Supreme Court have repeatedly 
issued rulings that have the effect of striking down some, or all, of the 
Legislature’s recreational immunity statute. The good news, though, is 
that the Oregon Legislature has repeatedly stood behind Oregon’s policy 
of encouraging private and public landowners to open their property to 
the public for recreational activities like hiking, mountain biking, kayaking, 
hunting, fishing, rock climbing, and accessing the beautiful coastline.

Once again, the League of Oregon Cities and the Association of 
Oregon Counties are ready to bring a bill to the Legislature in 2024 to 
restore recreational immunity.  But the support of individuals and local 
governments is needed.  The people of Oregon who enjoy recreational 
access to a wide range of properties, especially including trails to access 
climbing areas, the coast, rivers, streams and lakes, need to contact their 
local legislator and their local city or county officials to express their desire 
to restore recreational immunity.

Your CIS risk management consultant is available to assist you as you plan, 
evaluate, and mitigate the heightened risk as a result of the Fields v. City of 
Newport ruling. 

Continued on next page

For more information, visit CIS’ 
Recreational Immunity FAQ at 
cisoregon. org/RecImmunity.

www.cisoregon.org/RecImmunity


Real-Time Risk
Continued from previous page

RECOMMENDATONS FOR CITIES AND COUNTIES

1. Improved trails that are used to access a recreational area 
should be closed. This especially includes trails, walkways and 
stairs used to access bodies of water, such as the ocean, lakes, 
rivers, streams and reservoirs. 

2. Consider closing unimproved trails, because the subjective intent 
of the user can now nullify recreational immunity, which means if 
someone is injured on an unimproved trail, the city or county may 
find itself facing a costly jury trial to determine the injured person’s 
intent in using the trail.

3. Speak with your City Attorney or County Counsel about how 
Fields v. Newport could negatively affect your other recreational 
offerings to the public. For instance, someone who trips in a park 
can now say their primary purpose in using the park was not 
recreation, but rather they were simply passing through the park 
to access some other area in your jurisdiction.

4. Download and utilize this audit for property you decide to leave 
open because it is not conducive to a claim from someone “just 
passing through”, to ensure your facility is protected as much as 
possible from liability claims.

a. Consider requiring people to sign a form affirming they are 
using the property only for recreational purposes if your 
organization can afford to post someone at that location (at a 
skate park, for example).

5. Contact your legislator and any of the following organizations 
you are affiliated with: the League of Oregon Cities, the Association 
of Oregon Counties, the Special Districts Association of Oregon, 
or the Oregon Recreation and Park Association; express your 
desire to keep property free and open to everyone in Oregon for 
recreational activities.

Main Office   |   503-763-3800  800-922-2684   |  15875 Boones Ferry Rd. #1469, Lake Oswego, OR 97035

If you have any questions, 
please contact your Risk 
Management Consultant:
 
Northwest Oregon Coast and 
Columbia River Gorge

Margaret Ryan
mryan@cisoregon.org

Willamette Valley and Central 
Coast

Katie Durfee
kdurfee@cisoregon.org

Southern and Central Oregon

Laurie Olson
lolson@cisoregon.org

Eastern Oregon

Lisa Masters
lmasters@cisoregon.org

https://www.cisoregon.org/dl/x0tk2W4V
































































 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
November 8, 2023 
 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:    Mayor Chick and City Council 
From: Lori Longfellow, City Manager 
 
 
RE:  October 2023 Staff Report  
  
 

1) Manzanita Intertie IGA – Staff reviewed the draft IGA and has sent 

amendment recommendations back to the City of Manzanita. Manzanita’s 

legal department is now reviewing and both cities are aiming to have it on 

the December 2023 Council Meeting agenda.  

 

2) Anderson Creek Water Raw Water Transmission Main – Contractor has 

begun the process of fusing the pipe together. The City Manager and staff 

have been working on gathering Easement Agreements, additional notes 

along with other documents that will be sent to the city’s attorney within 

the next few days. Afterwards, we will begin working on the process of 

drafting the Anderson Creek IGA between the City of Nehalem and the City 

of Manzanita. The City Manager will keep the Council up to date with the 

agreement process.  

 

3) SB 406 – The measure requires unincorporated communities and cities in 

Tillamook County to meet the requirements for development of Middle 

Housing (ORS 197-758). To develop and adopt a housing production 



 

 

strategy, cities to adopt land use regulations or amend comprehensive 

plans to implement this change by July 2025. In July, the City of Nehalem 

had sent in a Housing Planning Assistance Application through DLCD and 

was awarded the grant in which they will provide the city with a consultant 

(Cascadia Partners) that will assist with a Housing Capacity Analysis (HCA), 

direction for any updates and/or needs to our code or comprehensive plan 

to make sure the newly adopted SB 406 requirements are met. The first 

introduction meeting will take place on November 16th, 2023. The County 

and surrounding cities are also working together, sharing resources to 

ensure timeline and requirements will be met.  

 

4) Hydrants – Public Works Department along with the City Engineer met with 

the Nehalem Fire Department on November 8th to start the fire hydrant 

testing process.  

 

5) Yardney Pre-Filter Replacement – This was a Water Capital Project budget 

for FY 2023-2024. The proposed cost is higher than anticipated. The City 

Manager and Staff are working on gathering documentation and bids for an 

Engineer Cost Estimate. Once that is received the City Manager will be 

working with Business Oregon to see if there is any possible State/Federal 

funding that can be obtained as a high needs project.  

 

6) Tillamook County Coordinated Houselessness Collaborative (CHC) – 2nd 

meeting was held October 10, 2023.  

• Naming of subcommittee  

• Discussion of Group Structure – Charter 

• Review of Annual Operating Plan 

• Discussion of CHC priorities and volunteers for subgroups Funding, 

Outreach, Shelter and Youth)  

The next meeting will be November 20th.  

 



 

PUBLIC WORKS STAFF REPORT  Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
November 8, 2023 
 
 
STAFF REPORT 
 
To:    Mayor Chick and City Council 
From: Brian Moore, Public Works Director 
 
RE:  PUBLIC WORKS MONTHLY REPORT 
 

WATER MONITORING & TESTING 

Average Daily Water Usage 

October 2023 Previous Year: 2022 

104,000 gallons 85,000 gallons 

Comments:  

   

Rainfall 

October 2023: Previous Year: 2022 

6.75 inches 4.05 inches 

Comments: Drought conditions are over 

 

Turbidity (NTU = Nephelometric Turbidity Unity: A measure of water clarity.) 
Turbidity is a measure of the cloudiness of the water. We monitor it daily because it is a good indicator of the 
effectiveness of our filtration system. 

Turbidity Monthly Average: Highest Allowed: 

0.07 NTU 
Never more than 5 NTU and less than 1 NTU 
in 95% of samples. 

Comments:  Result well below highest allowed. 

 

Bacteriological Testing 
To ensure water safety, our state-certified Public Works staff routinely monitor for contaminants in your drinking 
water according to federal and state laws. Total coliform and E.coli test samples are taken twice per month. 

Results for October 2023:   Comments: 

Both Negative 
A negative result is desirable and indicates 
that no bacteria was present in the drinking 
water sample. 

 
 
  



 

PUBLIC WORKS STAFF REPORT  Page 2 of 2 

OTHER PUBLIC WORKS UPDATES 
 

 
 

• We had a leak on 101    October 26th from 3:00 to 5:30 pm. Flowing approx. 
9,000-gals water lost.  Air relief came apart causing this 40’ Geyser.  
 
 

 


	NEHALEM CITY COUNCIL
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   October 9, 2023, Regular Council Meeting; April 27, 2023, Special Council Meeting;
	2023-10-09-Council-Minutes-DRAFT.pdf
	NEHALEM CITY COUNCIL
	REGULAR SESSION

	2023-04-27-Council-Minutes-Special_Meeting-DRAFT.pdf
	NEHALEM CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL MEETING

	2. Police-Report-October-2023.pdf
	Sheet1


